

This is an amendment to 16.34.8 NMAC Sections 8, 9, 13, 15, 16, 18, 20, 22, 23, effective 1/13/2026.

16.34.8.8 APPLICATION FOR OPENING, RELOCATING, CHANGING NAME OF A SCHOOL:

- A.** A school license is nontransferable.
- B.** A change of ownership or control is any action by which a person or corporation obtains authority to control the actions of an institution. These actions may include, but are not limited to:
- (1) the transfer of the controlling interest of stock of an institution to its parent corporation.
 - (2) the merger of two or more institutions;
 - (3) the division of an institution into two or more enterprises or establishments;
 - (4) the transfer of the assets or liabilities of an institution to its parent corporation;
 - (5) the acquisition by an individual of the controlling interest of an institution, whether a proprietorship, partnership or corporation;
 - (6) the sale of an institution; or
 - (7) the lease of or right to do business as an institution.
- C.** If ownership or legal control of a licensed school changes, the new owner, lessee or other legally responsible party must submit a new application and secure a new license from the board.
- D.** If legal control of a school does not change, but the organization of ownership does change (e.g. a sole proprietor becomes the sole stockholder of a corporation which owns the school), the board must receive notarized proof of such change within 30 days of such change.
- E.** A completed application to open, change ownership or relocate a school authorized under this act must be filed with the board. An application to open a school, change ownership or relocate or change the name of a school filed by a currently licensed school owner must be filed at least 15 days in advance of the expected date of change.
- (1) Applications must be on official forms approved by the board and must include the appropriate fee.
 - (2) Applicants to open, change ownership or relocate a school must demonstrate that the school is financially responsible and the school has sufficient resources to ensure against precipitous closure. Applicants shall provide at least the following information: ~~[evidence of ownership; corporate or business status; identity and address of owners, partners, shareholders, and directors; copies of articles of incorporation and by laws, if applicable; evidence of financial responsibility, including compiled financial statement and balance sheet indicating assets and liabilities; a corporate surety bond or terminates a program prior to the completion of a student's contract with the school; disclosure of the filing within the last seven years of bankruptcy of owner(s), partner(s), or director(s); and the identity of two business or financial references.]~~
 - (a) fee;
 - (b) evidence of ownership;
 - (c) corporate or business status;
 - (d) identity and address of owners, partners, shareholders or directors;
 - (e) copies of articles of incorporation and by-laws if applicable;
 - (f) evidence of financial responsibility, such as financial statement, balance sheet indicating assets and liabilities;
 - (g) a corporate surety bond
 - (h) disclosure of filing within the last seven years of bankruptcy of owners(s) if applicable;
 - (i) two references, business or financial;
 - (j) owner(s), partner(s) or director(s) must disclose any civil actions brought against them within ten years of the date of the application for or involving nonpayment of debt, fraud, or misrepresentation and the disposition of such action;
 - (m) course syllabus;
 - (n) copy of the school's current or proposed catalog;
 - (o) copy of the school's current or proposed enrollment agreement;
 - (p) a list of all full time instructors including license numbers, identify which instructor will be the managing instructor;

(q) a complete floor plan of the institution, including any separate or satellite classrooms, please include square footage;

(r) designate a custodian of records and process for obtaining transcripts from the custodian of records in the event the school closes; and

(r) complete exemption application with the department of higher education.

~~[(3) An owner(s), partner(s), or director(s) of a school applicant must sign a release directed to financial institutions authorizing the disclosure of financial information and shall disclose loan history.~~

~~(4) An owner(s), partner(s), or director(s) of a school applicant will be required to disclose civil actions brought within 10 years of the date of the application against an owner(s), partner(s), or director(s) for or involving nonpayment of debt, fraud, or misrepresentation and the disposition of such action(s).~~

~~(5) An owner(s), partner(s), or director(s) of a school applicant will be required to disclose any arrest or conviction within the 10 years of the date of the application for fraud, larceny, embezzlement, or any crime involving stealing, taking, theft, robbery, or unlawful appropriation of money or anything of value that belongs to another and the disposition of such action(s).]~~

~~[(6)]~~ (3) A school is not financially responsible if an owner(s), partner(s), or director(s) is not making payments in accordance with an agreement, judgment, or debt obligation, or if an owner(s), partner(s), or director(s) has been convicted of felony involving a crime described in Paragraph 5 of Subsection E of 16.34.8.8 NMAC and that owner(s), partner(s), or director(s) is not sufficiently rehabilitated as provided in the Criminal Offender Employment Act, Sections 28-2-1 through 28-2-6 NMSA 1978.

~~[(7)]~~ (4) In the case of a change of ownership of a school, the school establishment license of the prior owner does not expire for 30 days after the date of sale providing it is a current and valid license. In order to ensure continued training for students, the new owner may operate under the prior license until the earlier of the 30-day expiration date of the prior license or obtaining the new school establishment license.

~~[(8)]~~ (5) In case of a change of ownership of a school, the new school shall submit a student roster of all students enrolled at the time of the change which lists for each student the name, the date of birth, the social security number, course enrolled, the course beginning date and the student permit. The school shall submit the student roster to the board within 30 days of the change of ownership.

F. ~~[The application, if complete, may be administratively approved.]~~ A formal inspection of the establishment shall occur within 90 days of opening. Incomplete applications without proper and complete supporting documents will be returned.

G. When a school relocates within the state of New Mexico, the owner must complete ~~[a new]~~ an amendment application to change the location through the online portal, [application and obtain approval, including inspection from the board to operate the business at the new location,] and pay the school relocation fee. When changing address location, the department will then place the establishment on an inspection schedule to be determined by the board.

H. If any portion of the school is completely segregated from the primary area, a duplicate school license must be acquired and posted in the separate area. A duplicate license fee will be assessed. The school must also comply with 16.34.8.12 NMAC, expansion campus facility requirements.

I. All school licenses must be renewed on March 31 of each year.

J. Each school licensed by the board shall post a current copy of the statutes and rules and regulations and the most recent inspection report in an area where clearly visible to the public.

K. Each school licensed by the board shall post an exterior sign which indicates the facility houses a school.

[16.34.8.8 NMAC - Rp 16 NMAC 34.8.8, 6/16/2001; A, 12/17/2015; A, 7/14/2018; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.9 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS:

A. Schools may not permit its students to perform any laboratory services on the public under any circumstances until the student has accrued fifteen percent of the total hours required within the course.

B. Schools shall display in a conspicuous place within the reception or clinic area of the school a sign which indicates that all services are performed by supervised students.

C. Schools shall not pay compensation to any of its students, either directly or indirectly, excluding tips from clients.

D. Instructors or student instructors shall not be permitted to perform services on the public other than that part of the practical work which pertains directly to the teaching or demonstration of subjects included in the curriculum.

E. Schools shall provide both theory instruction and practical skills training in all subjects applicable to the course of study according to the curriculum prescribed by the board.

F. Schools shall provide a minimum of 24 hours of infection control and safety standards theory prior to any practical procedures.

G. Instructor approved hands-on procedures in schools shall be completed by students on clients, students or models; training on mannequins is considered hands on training as defined in 16.34.1.7 NMAC.

H. Schools shall maintain the equivalent of at least one full time instructor for every 20 students in attendance or part thereof.

I. Schools must at all times be under the immediate supervision of a licensed instructor.

J. Schools, which advertise services to the public in order to attract clients for its students, must include in each advertisement the statement that all services are performed by supervised students.

[16.34.8.9 NMAC - Rp 16 NMAC 34.8.9, 6/16/2001; A, 12/17/2015; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.13 REGULATIONS CONCERNING STUDENTS:

A. Student registration

(1) When a school receives an application from a prospective student, it shall promptly notify the student of the registration requirements of the board.

(2) It shall constitute a violation of the rules, within the meaning of the act, for a school to engage in failure to transmit student registration documents and fees in a timely fashion to the board pursuant to Subsection G of 16.34.15.8 NMAC, wherein fines will be imposed.

(3) It shall be the responsibility of the prospective student to comply with the registration requirements by the first day the student attends class for credit. Failure to do so may result in loss of hours earned prior to proper registration.

(4) No school shall allow a student to attend class for credit until the student has complied with the registration requirements:

(a) Applicants for the barber, cosmetology, hairstylist, manicure/pedicure, esthetician, electrologist, and manicure/esthetician courses must be at least 16 years of age.

(b) Applicants for the instructor course for barbers must be at least 17 years of age and have successfully completed four years of high school or the equivalent.

(5) Acceptable proof of age and education requirements as follows:

(a) Proof of age includes a copy of a birth certificate, a driver's license or a state issued identification card, or a baptismal certificate.

(b) Proof of two years of secondary education includes a high school diploma, a G.E.D. certificate or transcript of G.E.D. test scores, a sealed letter from the high school attended, a copy of the high school transcript showing all required grades have been passed, a letter from the G.E.D. testing facility stating that the G.E.D. test has been passed, or any other test approved by the United States department of education for the purpose of determining an applicant's ability to benefit, providing that documentation of grade equivalency is established by the test publisher and the required grade level for the course of study has been achieved.

(c) The board, or its executive director, may accept as proof of secondary education the applicant's notarized statement that the applicant has completed the required secondary education, but has been unable to obtain documentary proof of that from a foreign nation. A notarized statement will not be accepted for students who have completed the secondary education in the United States.

(6) Evidence of compliance with the foregoing requirements shall accompany the application for registration form provided by the board.

(7) Upon receipt of a complete student registration form and applicable fee, which shall be received in the board office within ~~[45]~~ 30 days of the date ~~[of registration]~~ the student starts school, the board office will then issue a student permit and a permit number. The student permit authorizes the holder to practice course related skills in an approved school on the public only after successful completion of fifteen percent of the program. In addition, the student permit also authorizes the student to participate in the student externship program pursuant to 16.34.8.17 NMAC of these rules. A photograph of the student (front view, head only, at least one and one-half inches by one and one-half inches) shall be attached to the permit. The permit shall be displayed in a binder in the school in which the student is enrolled and open to review by the state inspector or other board designee. Student permits are the property of the board and must be returned to ~~[the board by]~~ the school upon termination of the student's enrollment.

(8) If inspection of the student permits and school records determines that students are attending class without being properly registered with the board, the student may be denied the hours previously accrued and the school will be reported to the board for disciplinary action.

B. Student transfers/re-entries

(1) Any previously registered student desiring to transfer to another school, or re-enter the previous school shall submit a new registration form and required fees to the board. Students transferring schools as a result of a school closure shall submit a new registration form but are not required to pay a re-registration fee.

Students attending a school, which undergoes a change of ownership, are not required to re-register with the board.

(2) Any student desiring to re-enter school must submit proof of the successfully completed previous training in order to receive credit for it.

(3) A student enrolled in any course may withdraw and transfer hours or equivalent credit acquired to another course not to exceed the amount of hours or equivalent credit of each subject within the new course curriculum requirements. Appropriate termination notices and course registration documents must be submitted to the board office when a student transfers to another course.

~~[(4) Students enrolled in the cosmetology curriculum may take the examination for one of the specialty courses at which time the school certifies that the student has completed the requirements for the course in which the student seeks licensure. All other requirements for examination must also be met. The student may continue to attend classes in the cosmetology course. However, if licensure is obtained in any specialty course and the student continues attending classes in the cosmetology course, students.]~~

C. Records of student academic progress

(1) Schools shall keep records of academic progress for each student and these records shall be open for inspection by members of the board or its designees.

(2) Schools will designate in the enrollment contract and other consumer information, all requirements for withdrawal or graduation. When all requirements have been met, the school must ~~[return the student's permit to the board, and submit a sealed]~~ provide the official transcript of training to the board and to the student showing that course requirements for graduation have been met. The board recognizes for transfer, hours or equivalent credits reported on the official transcript of training. Circumstances regarding transfer of or approval of student hours may be brought to the board on an individual basis for special consideration by the board. The board may, in its discretion, recognize hours or equivalent credit or partial hours or partial credit for transfer when an official transcript of training has not been submitted by the school.

~~[(3) If a student terminates his/her enrollment status without meeting all withdrawal or graduation requirements, the school in which the student was enrolled shall notify the board of termination in writing within 30 days of the student's formal termination date using the format prescribed by the board, and return the student's permit.]~~

(3) If a student terminates their enrollment status without meeting all withdrawal or graduation requirements, the school in which student was enrolled shall notify the board of termination in writing within thirty days of the student's formal termination date using the format prescribed by the board. ~~[and return the student's permit.]~~

(4) Schools offering clock hour training shall define its attendance requirements to include one hundred percent attendance for the course length for licensure or may allow excused absences for no more than ten percent of the course length for satisfactory course completion.

(a) student attendance policies are applied uniformly and fairly;

(b) attendance policies give appropriate credit for all hours attended;

(c) schools shall not adjust attendance hours of students whether hours are added, as a reward, or deducted, as a penalty;

(d) the school shall report actual hours attended by the student or shall round the hours to the nearest half hour (i.e. if a student attended 44 minutes past the hour, the school would report the previous half hour; if a student attended 45 minutes past the hour, the school would report the next hour);

(e) the school must maintain attendance records for each student to verify that the minimum attendance standard set forth by the board is being met; and

(f) in cases where schools are authorized to offer training via distance learning methods, the school establish standards for converting competencies achieved to clock or credit hours.

(5) To be considered a graduate, a student must have completed the course scheduled for completion and met the minimum attendance standard (or ninety percent) of the established course of study and all other academic and evaluation factors established by the school. Therefore, in addition to completion of the required hours, the student must have satisfactorily completed the practical and theoretical curriculum requirements

set forth by the school. Those requirements must include documentation that the student has satisfactorily completed each unit of study prescribed by the board in the applicable course of study. The excused absences do not allow a student to accelerate in their course of study. Even though they may limit excused absences, they will not be allowed to sit for the state licensing examination until the number of hours, prescribed by the board for the applicable course of study, have elapsed.

(6) If a student is required OR allowed by the school to train more than the scheduled hours in a class day, students must be given credit for the additional time in the appropriate subject. Schools have full discretion in setting forth class schedules for each course offered as long as minimum requirements for graduation meet the board standards.

(7) Students may not be called from a scheduled theory class to perform services on the public.

(8) Schools expressing academic measurement in terms of credit hours shall set forth requirements for each unit of study within a course or program which ensures that required levels of competency or skills ability have been met. Such schools must award appropriate credit for each unit of study completed satisfactorily. Records of the students' academic progress within the course of study must be maintained for all students.

(9) The school shall provide a catalog to prospective students containing enough information to permit an informed choice among training opportunities and institutions. Catalogs which comply with the school's accrediting agency will be deemed to comply with this rule.

(10) Schools must comply with the Family Education Right to Privacy Act and must guarantee the rights of students to have access to their cumulative records and provide for proper supervision and interpretation of student records when reviewed.

(11) Schools and students shall enter into a signed written agreement which fully and accurately reflects the contractual rights and obligations of the parties, particularly with regard to suspension, expulsion, refunds, tuition and fees, withdrawal and graduation requirements. Contracts which comply with the school's accrediting agency will be deemed in compliance with this rule.

D. Records regarding state board examinations: Each school shall disclose to prospective students its annual statistics regarding the school's state examination pass rate. The board or its designee will send a letter to each school after each examination containing the result information on each student, which will serve as the source documentation for calculating the disclosed statistics.

[16.34.8.13 NMAC - Rp 16 NMAC 34.8.13, 6/16/2001; A, 7/16/2004; A, 10/4/2007; A, 12/17/2015; A, 7/14/2018; A, 12/27/2022; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.15 CURRICULUM:

A. The following minimum curriculum requirements are established for all schools licensed under the act. Schools offering training in clock hours must meet the following minimum hours in each unit of study. Schools offering training in credit hours must offer an equivalent training program as prescribed by the schools accrediting agency clock hour/credit hour conversion formula. In absence of such a formula the state board will prescribe the credit hour/clock hour conversion formula. Schools may offer all or part of the courses set forth herein provided appropriate facility requirements are met and Instructors have appropriate practitioner training to teach the subjects offered. This does not preclude schools from offering non-related courses or advanced courses, which are not prescribed in these rules. Courses are automatically approved if the course units are between one hundred percent and one hundred twenty percent of the minimum. Schools desiring to offer instruction that exceeds one hundred twenty percent of the minimum requirements (i.e. a course that is over twenty five percent of the board's published minimum requirements) must submit to the board the following:

(1) a course outline indicating all course hours or credits offered;
(2) a class schedule for the entire course indicating how and when each unit of instruction is offered;

(3) justification of why the course should be approved at the extended length.
B. Barber course curriculum - **1200**-course hours or equivalent credit:

- (1) **THEORY: [75] 205 hours or equivalent credit**
- (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) professional image;
 - (d) first aid;
 - (e) chemistry;

- (f) electricity;
- (g) job seeking; and
- (h) ethics
- (2) **STERILIZATION, SANITATION, BACTERIOLOGY: 75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory and safety;
 - (b) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (c) products, materials and implements;
 - (d) public sanitation;
 - (e) methods of sanitation and sterilization;
 - (f) chemical agents;
 - (g) types and classifications of bacteria;
 - (h) bacterial growth;
 - (i) infections; and
 - (j) infection control and safety standards
- (3) **SHAMPOO, RINSES, SCALP TREATMENTS: ~~75~~ 45 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation;
 - (e) procedures and practice;
 - (f) products, materials and implements;
 - (g) hair ~~analysis~~ analysis;
 - (h) disorders of the hair and scalp;
 - (i) hair and scalp treatments;
 - (j) related chemistry; and
 - (k) client record keeping and safety
- (4) **CHEMICAL REARRANGING - PERMS AND RELAXERS: ~~200~~ 150 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry; and
 - (h) client record keeping and safety
- (5) **HAIRSTYLING: ~~150~~ 75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry;
 - (h) wet styling;
 - (i) blow drying;
 - (j) finger waving;
 - (k) air waving;
 - (l) hair pressing;
 - (m) hair extensions;
 - (n) hair weaving;
 - (o) braiding;
 - (p) corn rowing;
 - (q) client consultation and recommendations;
 - (r) client record keeping and safety; and
 - (s) care of wigs and hair pieces

- (6) HAIR COLORING - BLEACHING: ~~[125]~~ **150 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry;
 - (h) temporary, semi-permanent, and permanent applications;
 - (i) bleaching, tinting, toning, frosting, special effects and problems;
 - (j) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (k) client record keeping and safety
- (7) HAIR CUTTING AND BEARD TRIMMING: ~~[250]~~ **330 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) shaving, honing and stropping;
 - (e) preparation, procedures, and practice;
 - (f) use of scissors, shears, razor and clippers;
 - (g) products, materials and implements;
 - (h) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (i) client record keeping and safety
- (8) FACIALS: **[175] 120 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) theory of massage and facial treatments;
 - (g) makeup application;
 - (h) use of electrical appliances, currents and specialized machines for treatments;
 - (i) artificial eyelashes;
 - (j) removal of unwanted hair;
 - (k) eyelash and brow tinting;
 - (l) light therapy;
 - (m) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (n) client record keeping and safety
- (9) REQUIRED HANDS-ON-TRAINING - instructor approved procedures
 - (a) 40 facial shave;
 - (b) 30 shaving around ears and neck;
 - (c) 25 ladies haircuts;
 - (d) 75 mens haircuts;
 - (e) 25 hairstyling;
 - (f) chemical texturing:
 - (i) seven permanent waving and
 - (ii) seven permanent relaxing
- (10) SALON BUSINESS, RETAIL SALES: **50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) opening a salon and business plan;
 - (c) written agreements;
 - (d) regulations and laws;
 - (e) salon operation, policies, practices, personnel, compensation, payroll deductions;
 - (f) use of telephone, advertising, retail and salesmanship, client communications, public relations, insurance; and
 - (g) salon safety

- ~~[(11) MISCELLANEOUS: 25 hours or equivalent credit~~
~~(a) to be applied by the instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum~~
~~related areas, or~~
~~(b) for supervised field trips and other course related training;]~~
- C. Cosmetology course curriculum - **1600**-course hours or equivalent credit
- (1) THEORY: ~~[75]~~ **255 hours or equivalent credit**
- (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) professional image;
 - (d) first aid;
 - (e) chemistry;
 - (f) electricity;
 - (g) job seeking; and
 - (h) ethics
- (2) STERILIZATION, SANITATION, BACTERIOLOGY: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
- (a) related theory and safety;
 - (b) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (c) products, materials and implements;
 - (d) public sanitation;
 - (e) methods of sanitation and sterilization;
 - (f) chemical agents;
 - (g) types and classifications of bacteria;
 - (h) bacterial growth;
 - (i) infections; and
 - (j) infection control and safety standards
- (3) SHAMPOO, RINSES, SCALP TREATMENTS: ~~[75]~~ **45 hours or equivalent credit**
- (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation;
 - (e) procedures and practice;
 - (f) products, materials and implements;
 - (g) hair analysis;
 - (h) disorders of the hair and scalp;
 - (i) hair and scalp treatments;
 - (j) related chemistry; and
 - (k) client record keeping and safety
- (4) CHEMICAL REARRANGING - PERMS AND RELAXERS: ~~[200]~~ **150 hours or equivalent credit**
- (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry; and
 - (h) client record keeping and safety
- (5) HAIRSTYLING: ~~[150]~~ **75 hours or equivalent credit**
- (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry;
 - (h) wet styling;

- (i) blow drying;
- (j) finger waving;
- (k) air waving;
- (l) hair pressing;
- (m) hair extensions;
- (n) hair weaving;
- (o) braiding;
- (p) corn rowing;
- (q) client consultation and recommendations;
- (r) client record keeping and safety; and
- (s) care of wigs and hair pieces
- (6) **HAIR COLORING - BLEACHING: [~~125~~] 150 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry;
 - (h) temporary, semi-permanent, and permanent applications;
 - (i) bleaching, tinting, toning, frosting, special effects and problems;
 - (j) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (k) client record keeping and safety
- (7) **HAIR CUTTING: [~~200~~] 150 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures, and practice;
 - (e) use of scissors, shears, razor and clippers;
 - (f) products, materials and implements;
 - (g) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (h) client recordkeeping and safety
- (8) **FACIALS: [~~175~~] 350 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) theory of massage and facial treatments;
 - (g) makeup application;
 - (h) use of electrical appliances, currents and specialized machines for treatments;
 - (i) artificial eyelashes;
 - (j) removal of unwanted hair;
 - (k) eyelash and brow tinting;
 - (l) light therapy;
 - (m) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (n) client record keeping and safety
- (9) **MANICURING/PEDICURING: [~~175~~] 300 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) theory of massage;
 - (g) advanced nail techniques;
 - (h) client consultation and recommendations; and

- (i) client record keeping and safety
- (10) REQUIRED HANDS-ON TRAINING: instructor approved procedures:
 - (a) 75 ladies haircuts;
 - (b) 25 mens haircuts;
 - (c) 25 hairstylings;
 - (d) 30 coloring;
 - (e) chemical texturing:
 - (i) seven permanent waving; and
 - (ii) seven permanent relaxing
- (11) SALON BUSINESS, RETAIL SALES: **50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) opening a salon and business plan;
 - (c) written agreements;
 - (d) regulations and laws;
 - (e) salon operation, policies, practices, personnel, compensation, payroll deductions;
 - (f) use of telephone, advertising, retail and salesmanship, client communications, public relations, insurance; and
 - (g) salon safety
- ~~[(12) MISCELLANEOUS: **300 hours or equivalent credit**~~
- ~~(a) to be applied by the Instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum related areas; or~~
- ~~(b) for supervised field trips and other course related training]~~
- D. Manicurist/pedicurist course curriculum - **[400] 600 -course hours or equivalent credit**
 - (1) THEORY: **[75] 175 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) professional image;
 - (d) first aid;
 - (e) chemistry;
 - (f) electricity;
 - (g) job seeking; and
 - (h) ethics
 - (2) STERILIZATION, SANITATION, BACTERIOLOGY: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory and safety;
 - (b) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (c) products, materials and implements;
 - (d) public sanitation;
 - (e) methods of sanitation and sterilization;
 - (f) chemical agents;
 - (g) types and classifications of bacteria;
 - (h) bacterial growth;
 - (i) infections; and
 - (j) infection control and safety standards
 - (3) MANICURING/PEDICURING: **[175] 300 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) theory of massage;
 - (g) advanced nail techniques;
 - (h) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (i) client record keeping and safety
 - (4) REQUIRED HANDS-ON TRAINING: **instructor approved procedures**
 - (a) 45 manicures;

- (b) 45 pedicures; and
 - (c) 20 acrylic nail sets
- (5) SALON BUSINESS, RETAIL SALES: **50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) opening a salon and business plan;
 - (c) written agreements;
 - (d) regulations and laws;
 - (e) salon operation, policies, practices, personnel, compensation, payroll deductions;
 - (f) use of telephone, advertising, retail and salesmanship, client communications, public relations, insurance; and
 - (g) salon safety
- ~~(6) MISCELLANEOUS: **25 hours or equivalent credit**~~
- ~~(a) to be applied by the instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum related areas; or~~
- ~~(b) for supervised field trips and other course related training]~~
- E. Esthetician course curriculum - 600-course hours or equivalent credit
 - (1) THEORY: ~~[75]~~ **125 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) professional image;
 - (d) first aid;
 - (e) chemistry;
 - (f) electricity;
 - (g) job seeking; and
 - (h) ethics
 - (2) STERILIZATION, SANITATION, BACTERIOLOGY: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory and safety;
 - (b) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (c) products, materials and implements;
 - (d) public sanitation;
 - (e) methods of sanitation and sterilization;
 - (f) chemical agents;
 - (g) types and classifications of bacteria;
 - (h) bacterial growth;
 - (i) infections;
 - (j) infection control and safety standards
 - (3) FACIALS: **350 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) theory of massage;
 - (g) facial treatments and makeup application;
 - (h) use of electrical appliances, currents and specialized machines for treatments;
 - (i) artificial eyelashes;
 - (j) removal of unwanted hair;
 - (k) eyelash and brow tinting;
 - (l) light therapy;
 - (m) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (n) client record keeping and safety
 - (4) SALON BUSINESS, RETAIL SALES: **50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) opening a salon and business plan;
 - (c) written agreements;

- (d) regulations and laws;
- (e) salon operation, policies, practices, personnel, compensation, payroll deductions;
- (f) use of telephone, advertising, retail and salesmanship, client communications, public relations, insurance; and
- (g) salon safety
- (5) **REQUIRED HANDS-ON TRAINING: instructor approved procedures:**
 - (a) 50 basic facial procedures;
 - (b) 25 machine facial procedures;
 - (c) 25 waxing procedures; and
 - (d) 10 makeup procedures
- ~~[(6) MISCELLANEOUS: **50 hours or equivalent credit**~~
- ~~(a) to be applied by the Instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum related areas; or~~
- ~~(b) for supervised field trips and other course related training]~~
- F. Manicurist/esthetician course curriculum – ~~[900]~~ **950-course hours or equivalent credit**
 - (1) **THEORY: ~~[100]~~ 175 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) professional image;
 - (d) first aid;
 - (e) chemistry;
 - (f) electricity;
 - (g) job seeking; and
 - (h) ethics
 - (2) **STERILIZATION, SANITATION, BACTERIOLOGY: ~~[150]~~ 75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory and safety;
 - (b) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (c) products, materials and implements;
 - (d) public sanitation;
 - (e) methods of sanitation and sterilization;
 - (f) chemical agents;
 - (g) types and classifications of bacteria;
 - (h) bacterial growth;
 - (i) infections; and
 - (j) infection control and safety standards
 - (3) **FACIALS: 350 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) theory of massage;
 - (g) facial treatments and makeup application;
 - (h) use of electrical appliances, currents and specialized machines for treatments;
 - (i) artificial eyelashes;
 - (j) removal of unwanted hair;
 - (k) eyelash and brow tinting;
 - (l) light therapy;
 - (m) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (n) client record keeping and safety
 - (4) **MANICURING/PEDICURING: ~~[175]~~ 300 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;

- (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
- (e) products, materials and implements;
- (f) theory of massage;
- (g) advanced nail techniques;
- (h) client consultation and recommendations; and
- (i) client record keeping and safety
- (5) **REQUIRED HANDS-ON TRAINING: instructor approved procedures**
 - (a) 50 basic facial procedures;
 - (b) 25 machine facial procedures;
 - (c) 25 waxing procedures;
 - (d) 10 makeup;
 - (e) 45 manicure;
 - (f) 45 pedicure; and
 - (g) 20 acrylic nail sets
- (6) **SALON BUSINESS, RETAIL SALES: [75] 50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) opening a salon and business plan;
 - (c) written agreements;
 - (d) regulations and laws;
 - (e) salon operation, policies, practices, personnel, compensation, payroll
 - (f) use of telephone, advertising, retail and salesmanship, client communications,
 - (g) salon safety
- ~~(7) MISCELLANEOUS: 50 hours or equivalent credit~~
- ~~(a) to be applied by the Instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum~~
- ~~(b) for supervised field trips and other course related training]~~
- G. Electrology course curriculum - 600-course hours or equivalent credit**
 - (1) **THEORY: 75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) professional image;
 - (d) first aid;
 - (e) chemistry;
 - (f) electricity;
 - (g) job seeking; and
 - (h) ethics
 - (2) **STERILIZATION, SANITATION, BACTERIOLOGY: 75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory and safety;
 - (b) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (c) products, materials and implements;
 - (d) public sanitation;
 - (e) methods of sanitation and sterilization;
 - (f) chemical agents;
 - (g) types and classifications of bacteria;
 - (h) bacterial growth;
 - (i) infections; and
 - (j) infection control and safety standards
 - (3) **ELECTROLYSIS AND THERMOLOGY: 350 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) use of electrical currents;

- (g) insertion of needles;
 - (h) before and after treatment and care;
 - (i) destruction of the papilla;
 - (j) consultation and recommendations; and
 - (k) client record keeping and safety
- (4) SALON BUSINESS, RETAIL SALES: **50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) opening a salon and business plan;
 - (c) written agreements;
 - (d) regulations and laws;
 - (e) salon operation, policies, practices, personnel, compensation, payroll deductions;
 - (f) use of telephone, advertising, retail and salesmanship, client communications, public relations, insurance; and
 - (g) salon safety
- (5) MISCELLANEOUS: **50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) to be applied by the Instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum related areas; or
 - (b) for supervised field trips and other course related training
- H. Instructor course curriculum – [~~1000~~] 500 course hours or equivalent credit
 - (1) THEORY: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) employment and compensation information;
 - (d) professional ethics and image;
 - (e) effective communications;
 - (f) first aid;
 - (g) chemistry;
 - (h) electricity;
 - (i) job seeking;
 - (j) ethics;
 - (k) principles of teaching;
 - (l) teacher maturity;
 - (m) student learning principles; and
 - (n) academic advising
 - (2) COURSE DEVELOPMENT AND LESSON PLANNING: [~~100~~] 75 hours or equivalent credit
 - (a) planning;
 - (b) analysis;
 - (c) implementation
 - (d) benefits;
 - (e) outline;
 - (f) examples of lesson plans;
 - (g) components of effective lesson plans;
 - (h) principles of preparing lesson plans; and
 - (i) practical course review
 - (3) TEACHING METHODS: [~~100~~] 75 hours or equivalent credit
 - (a) preparation;
 - (b) presentation;
 - (c) application;
 - (d) testing;
 - (e) lecture and workbooks;
 - (f) demonstrations and return demonstrations;
 - (g) discussion;
 - (h) question and answer;
 - (i) projects; and

- (j) field trips
- (4) TEACHING AIDS: ~~[50]~~ **25 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) films or videos;
 - (b) charts;
 - (c) mannequins;
 - (d) reference materials;
 - (e) chalkboards; and
 - (f) overhead projectors and transparencies
- (5) THEORY TEACHING AND CLASSROOM MANAGEMENT: ~~[200]~~ **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) independent classroom instructing;
 - (b) records and reports;
 - (c) safety measures;
 - (d) classroom conditions and maintenance;
 - (e) class supervision and control;
 - (f) classroom problems and solutions; and
 - (g) academic advising
- (6) TESTING AND STUDENT EVALUATION: ~~[50]~~ **25 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) measurement of student ability/achievement;
 - (b) diagnosis of student weaknesses;
 - (c) motivation for study;
 - (d) oral and written testing; and
 - (e) development and use of testing/measurement Instruments
- (7) LABORATORY SUPERVISION: ~~[3000]~~ **150 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) independent clinic supervision;
 - (b) client communications/reception desk;
 - (c) inventory control;
 - (d) effective dispensary procedures;
 - (e) supervision of clinic sanitation/client safety; and
 - (f) technical skills ability
- ~~(8) MISCELLANEOUS: 125 hours or equivalent credit~~
 - ~~(a) fundamentals of business management;~~
 - ~~(b) to be applied by Instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum areas; or~~
 - ~~(c) for supervised field trips and other course related training cosmetology course.]~~
- I. Hairstylist curriculum - 1200-course hours or equivalent credit**
 - (1) THEORY: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) limited to orientation;
 - (b) state laws and regulations;
 - (c) professional image;
 - (d) first aid;
 - (e) chemistry;
 - (f) electricity;
 - (g) job seeking; and
 - (h) ethics
 - (2) STERILIZATION, SANITATION, BACTERIOLOGY: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory and safety;
 - (b) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (c) products, materials and implements;
 - (d) public sanitation;
 - (e) methods of sanitation and sterilization;
 - (f) chemical agents;
 - (g) types and classifications of bacteria;
 - (h) bacterial growth;
 - (i) infections; and
 - (j) infection control and safety standards

- credit**
- (3) SHAMPOO, RINSES, SCALP TREATMENTS: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation;
 - (e) procedures and practice;
 - (f) products, materials and implements;
 - (g) hair analysis;
 - (h) disorders of the hair and scalp;
 - (i) hair and scalp treatments;
 - (j) related chemistry; and
 - (k) client record keeping and safety
 - (4) CHEMICAL REARRANGING - PERMS AND RELAXERS: **250 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry; and
 - (h) client record keeping and safety
 - (5) HAIRSTYLING: **150 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry;
 - (h) wet styling;
 - (i) blow drying;
 - (j) finger waving;
 - (k) air waving;
 - (l) hair pressing;
 - (m) hair extensions;
 - (n) hair weaving;
 - (o) braiding;
 - (p) corn rowing;
 - (q) client consultation and recommendations;
 - (r) client record keeping and safety; and
 - (s) care of wigs and hair pieces
 - (6) HAIR COLORING - BLEACHING: **225 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) anatomy;
 - (c) physiology;
 - (d) preparation, procedures and practice;
 - (e) products, materials and implements;
 - (f) hair analysis and client consultation;
 - (g) related chemistry;
 - (h) temporary, semi-permanent, and permanent applications;
 - (i) bleaching, tinting, toning, frosting, special effects and problems;
 - (j) client consultation and recommendations; and
 - (k) client record keeping and safety
 - (7) HAIR CUTTING: **225 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;

- (b) anatomy;
- (c) physiology;
- (d) preparation, procedures, and practice;
- (e) use of scissors, shears, razor and clippers;
- (f) products, materials and implements;
- (g) client consultation and recommendations; and
- (h) client recordkeeping and safety
- (8) REQUIRED HANDS-ON TRAINING: instructor approved procedures:
 - (a) 75 ladies haircuts;
 - (b) 25 mens haircuts;
 - (c) 25 hairstylings;
 - (d) 30 coloring;
 - (e) chemical texturing:
 - (i) seven permanent waving; and
 - (ii) seven permanent relaxing
- (9) SALON BUSINESS, RETAIL SALES: **50 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) related theory;
 - (b) opening a salon and business plan;
 - (c) written agreements;
 - (d) regulations and laws;
 - (e) salon operation, policies, practices, personnel, compensation, payroll deductions;
 - (f) use of telephone, advertising, retail and salesmanship, client communications, public relations, insurance; and
 - (g) salon safety
- (10) MISCELLANEOUS: **75 hours or equivalent credit**
 - (a) to be applied by the instructor to strengthen student performance in curriculum related areas; or
 - (b) for supervised field trips and other course related training

J. Field trips: Students enrolled in an approved course of study are allowed to supplement their training through supervised field trips. Such trips and hours or equivalent credit accrued must be supervised and verified by a school official. Field trips, which include curriculum activities such as providing services to residents of nursing homes, must be supervised by a licensed instructor. Hours or equivalent credit accrued through field trips are recorded in the miscellaneous category. If a student is actually participating in a technical skills competition, the hours may be recorded in the applicable curriculum category.
 [16.34.8.15 NMAC - Rp 16 NMAC 34.8.15, 6/16/2001; A, 12/17/2015; A, 7/14/2018; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.16 CROSSOVER CREDITS:

A. Individuals who are licensed as barbers and who wish to become licensed as cosmetologists must ~~[have at least one year of full-time, verified work experience in a licensed establishment and]~~ complete ~~[175]~~ 580 course hours or applicable credit hours in a licensed school, unless otherwise approved by the board, as follows:

B. MANICURING/PEDICURING: ~~[175]~~ 580 hours or equivalent credit

- (1) related theory;
- (2) anatomy;
- (3) physiology;
- (4) preparation, procedures and practice;
- (5) products, materials and implements;
- (6) theory of massage;
- (7) advanced nail techniques;
- (8) client consultation and recommendations; and
- (9) client record keeping and safety

C. Individuals who are licensed as cosmetologists and who wish to become licensed as barbers must complete ~~[150]~~ 180 course hours or applicable credit hours in a school, unless otherwise approved by the board, as follows:

D. BEARD TRIMMING AND SHAVING: ~~[150]~~ 180 hours or equivalent credit

- (1) related theory;

- (2) anatomy;
- (3) physiology;
- (4) preparation, procedures and practice;
- (5) products, materials and implements; and
- (6) beard trimming, shaving, honing and stropping

E. To obtain a license with the crossover credits listed above, the applicant must submit to and pass a practical examination in the applicable subject(s) only.

F. The board will consider, on a case-by-case basis, approval of crossover credits for training in other disciplines that may directly or indirectly relate to courses approved in these rules. The applicant shall furnish copies of all applicable transcripts by subject and clock or credit hours previously earned. The board may approve such hours or equivalent credits not to exceed fifty percent of the requirements for regular applicants for licensure under these rules. Credit for work experience completed in other disciplines will not be credited toward course requirements under these rules.

[16.34.8.16 NMAC - Rp 16 NMAC 34.8.16, 6/16/2001; A, 12/17/2015; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.18 REFRESHER COURSES:

A. Schools may offer a customized refresher course for individuals who have been out of school for ~~[12]~~ 24 months or longer and not yet obtained licensure and to licensees who wish to re-enter school and update their professional skills. The following requirements must be met for those students enrolled in a refresher course who are not already licensed. The student shall re-enter a licensed school, submit to a scholastic evaluation to determine training needs, and complete a minimum of 150 hours of remedial education.

(1) The student must be re-registered with the board and all other matriculation requirements met as required for regular students;

(2) The earned hours or equivalent credit will be added to the student's existing transcript even though the requirements for licensure may have already been met.

~~[(a) — Successfully completed training must be reported on the official transcript of training [accompanied by the student permit must be sent to the board office upon completion.]~~

~~[(b) — A notice of termination and student permit must be sent to the board office upon termination from enrollment for unsuccessful completion of training.]~~

B. ~~[Individuals who are already licensed who enroll in a refresher course must meet the following requirements.]~~ Successfully completed training must be reported on the official transcript of training, uploaded to licensing portal.

~~[C. — The student file must contain a copy of the individual's current license, which may be reviewed by the inspector.]~~

[16.34.8.18 NMAC - Rp 16 NMAC 34.8.18, 6/16/2001; A, 10/4/2007; A, 12/17/2015; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.20 SPECIAL EVENTS PERMIT: A school or establishment desiring to ~~[sponsor]~~ provide services at a special event, such as a fund-raiser, ~~[garage sale]~~, wedding, telethon, etc. that will not be conducted at the licensed establishments, must first obtain approval from the board office. The purpose of prior approval is to ensure professional integrity and that sanitation and safety requirements are met. An application on the form provided by the board office must be submitted at least ten days prior to the event. Applications for special events may be approved administratively. Special events for charities shall submit an application, no fees are required, as long as the money collected is donated to the charity specified on the application.

[16.34.8.20 NMAC - Rp 16 NMAC 34.8.22, 6/16/2001; A, 12/17/2015; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.22 DISTANCE EDUCATION: It is recognized that delivery of relevant course content can be achieved in a variety of methods including online learning and distance education. Programs such as Instructor training may be completely accomplished via distance learning. Practitioner programs are limited to no more than ~~[twenty-five]~~ fifty percent of the program content online for theory only. The following standards should apply when schools choose to use distance learning methods.

A. The school must notify the board and obtain approval before offering any distance learning courses.

B. The school must determine if the student has the requisite skills and competencies to succeed in a distance learning environment prior to enrollment.

C. The school must make available to students the necessary textbooks, supplementary educational materials and equipment needed to fulfill the program requirements.

D. The school must establish measurable and achievable performance outcomes that shall be compared to similar subject matter and objectives whether offered through traditional or distance methods.

E. The school must specify the expected knowledge, skills, and competency levels that students will achieve in a distance learning course.

F. The school shall effectively oversee the distance learning course and ensure it meets the objectives and mission of the school.

G. The school is responsible for the quality of courses of study offered through distance learning and the achievement of expected acceptable outcomes for each student irrespective of any contractual arrangements, partnerships, or consortia entered into with third parties for provision of components of a distance learning course.
[16.34.8.22 NMAC - N, 7/16/2004; A, 1/13/2026]

16.34.8.23 ADVANCED TRAINING: Educational programs provided for the purpose of continuing education or advanced education in a specific field of licensure that are more than one hundred fifty (150) hours in length must be conducted in a licensed school and supervised by a licensed instructor whether or not the program leads to licensure. Programs for advanced or continuing education of one hundred fifty (150) hours or less will be considered seminars or workshops. They ~~[may or may not]~~ must be conducted in a licensed establishment ~~[but]~~ and must be supervised by ~~[a New Mexico licensee]~~ an instructor licensed by the New Mexico Board of Barbers and Cosmetologists. Advanced training must be specific to the field of licensure.
[16.34.8.23 NMAC - N, 8/29/2023; A, 1/13/2026]